Page 1 of 32

FILED 12-17-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No(s). 2021AP1006, 2021AP1620-CR

In the matter of the Refusal of Joshua John Hansen

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

JOSHUA JOHN HANSEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM ORDER ENTERED ON MAY 7, 2021, AND CONVICTIONS ENTERED ON AUGUST 12, 2021, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DODGE COUNTY, BRANCH 4, THE HON. KRISTINE A. SNOW, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

JOSHUA JOHN HANSEN, Defendant-Appellant

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Does a police officer have reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle based solely on the fact that the officer observed a blue colored light on the registration plate of a vehicle?

### TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: YES

II. Did the officer's questions about alleged alcohol consumption prolong the traffic stop?

## TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: YES

III. Did the officer have reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop in order to pursue an impaired driving investigation?

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: YES

### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

This appeal, as a one-judge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Hence, publication is not sought.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issue on appeal.

Page 8 of 32

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 9, 2020, Hansen was cited in Dodge County Case Number 20TR5071 with a Refusal to Take a Chemical Test for Intoxication,<sup>1</sup> and timely requested a refusal hearing.<sup>2</sup> On February 12, 2021, Hansen was charged, in Dodge County Case Number 2021CT38, with five counts of: (1) Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated – 3<sup>rd</sup> Offense, (2) Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration – 3<sup>rd</sup> Offense, (3) Operating a Firearm While Intoxicated, (4) Carrying a Concealed Weapon, and (5) Possession of Tetrahydrocannabinol.<sup>3</sup> Both cases arose out of the same alleged incident, on November 5, 2020.<sup>4</sup>

On March 15, 2021, Hansen filed a Motion to Suppress Fruits of Illegal Search and Seizure in 20TR5071 and 21CT38, and that motion was supplemented by the filing of Defense exhibits on April 29, 2021.<sup>5</sup> Hansen contended that the stop, which was based solely on the officer's observation of a blue light on the registration lamp, was not supported by reasonable suspicion.<sup>6</sup> Hansen further contended that there was not reasonable suspicion to expand the scope of the stop, to request standardized field sobriety tests (SFSTs), or to request a preliminary breath test (PBT).<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 2021AP1006, R.2, at 1–2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 2021AP1006, R.3, R.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 2021AP1620, R.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 2021AP1006, R.2; 2021AP1620, R.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 2021AP1006, R.10, R.12; 2021AP1620, R.9, R.11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 2021AP1006, R.10; 2021AP1620, R.9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 2021AP1006, R.10; 2021AP1620, R.9.

On April 30, 2021, an evidentiary hearing on Hansen's motion to suppress was

held concurrently with the refusal hearing.<sup>8</sup> Officer Scott Petrack of the Mayville Police

Department was the sole witness to testify at the motion and refusal hearings.<sup>9</sup> Several

exhibits were introduced into evidence at the hearing, including a flash drive containing

Petrack's squad arbitrator footage of the incident.<sup>10</sup> After pulling over Hansen, Petrack's

interaction with Hansen was depicted on Petrack's squad arbitrator footage in the

following manner:<sup>11</sup>

Petrack: The reason I stopped you is because you got a blue light on the back of your car. Hansen: Yup. Petrack: Okay? It's illegal in Wisconsin. Hansen: Is it? Petrack: Yup, you have your driver's license on you at all? Hansen: I do. Petrack: Okay. Where you headed? Hansen: Home. Petrack: Where's home? Hansen: 725 Green Bay Drive. **Petrack**: Is that where you live now, or . . .? Hansen: Correct. Petrack: You moved from Cudahy? Hansen: Correct. Petrack: So 725 Green Bay Drive ... you have your insurance at all, for the vehicle? Hansen: I do. Petrack: Okay, you want to remove that for me please? Hansen: Sure. Actually . . . (unintelligible) Petrack: Where you coming from? Hansen: Umm ... (passenger converses with Petrack) Petrack: Were you lost? Cause you kind of went around (the block) a few times. Hansen: I'm not new . . . I'm very new here. Petrack: Joshua, how much you had to drink tonight?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26; 2021AP1620, R.21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26; 2021AP1620, R.21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 19–20, R.34, R.35; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 19–20, R.13–18, R.37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 2021AP1006, R.34, Exhibit 1, at 2:05–4:15; 2021AP1620, R.13, Exhibit 1, at 2:05–4:15.

Petrack testified at the evidentiary hearing as follows: On November 5, 2020, at or about 9:30 p.m., Petrack was on patrol in the City of Mayville when he observed a car driving westbound on Dayton Street with what appeared to be a blue colored light emitting from its registration plate.<sup>12</sup> Petrack followed the vehicle for several blocks before activating his emergency overhead lights and stopping the vehicle. He identified Hansen as the driver.<sup>13</sup> Petrack testified that he observed no traffic violations by Hansen aside from the blue light, and that he had informed a Sergeant on scene that he would not have stopped Hansen but for his observation of the blue light.<sup>14</sup>

Petrack's police cruiser had the capability to run a vehicle information search, which would have revealed whether Hansen's vehicle was a government vehicle, but Petrack testified that he did not run an information search on Hansen's vehicle prior to completing the stop.<sup>15</sup> Such an information search of Hansen's license plate would have revealed whether Hansen's vehicle was a government vehicle used in police work. Petrack also testified that his police cruiser had the capability to contact police dispatch and request that they perform a vehicle information search, which he did only after pulling Hansen over.<sup>16</sup> During his initial conduct with Hansen, Petrack testified he observed Hansen to have bloodshot eyes, an odor of intoxicants on his breath, and that he slurred his words from time to time.<sup>17</sup> However, Petrack testified that he could not recall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 7–8; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 7–8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 47; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 47; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 47, 50; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 47, 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 49–50; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 49–50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 12; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 12.

which words he believed that Hansen slurred or did not slur.<sup>18</sup> Petrack testified that he asked Hansen how much he had been drinking, and that Hansen replied that he had two drinks and two shots over the past hour.<sup>19</sup> Petrack testified that he then had Hansen perform SFSTs, noted several clues of impairment on those tests, and asked Hansen to provide a PBT.<sup>20</sup>

After Hansen blew a .228 on the PBT, Hansen was placed under arrest and was placed in Petrack's police cruiser.<sup>21</sup> Petrack read Hansen the Informing the Accused Form (ITAF), whereafter Hansen allegedly refused to submit to Petrack's request for a blood draw.<sup>22</sup> Petrack applied for a search warrant, which was granted by Judge Martin De Vries.<sup>23</sup> Hansen's blood was drawn at Beaver Dam Hospital at the direction of law enforcement.<sup>24</sup>

The State argued that the traffic stop was lawful based solely on Petrack's observation of a blue light on Hansen's vehicle.<sup>25</sup> Additionally, the State commented that Petrack also observed that Hansen was slow to pull over after Petrack activated his emergency overhead lights behind Hansen's vehicle, arguing that this driving behavior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 51; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 13; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 15, 34–36; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 34–36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 36, 39–45; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 36, 39–45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 36, 39–45; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 36, 39–45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 63; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 4, 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> 2021AP1620, R.4, at 5–6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 76–77 ("[A] police officer sees a car go by. There's a blue light by the license plate. That's a perfectly good stop."), 92 ("He pulls him over for a traffic violation -- the blue light."); 2021AP1620, R.21, at 76–77, 92.

coupled with other post-stop observations justified the stop expansions.<sup>26</sup> The Defense argued that Petrack did not have reasonable suspicion to stop Hansen, reasonable suspicion to extend the stop, or probable cause to request a PBT.<sup>27</sup> Further, the Defense argued that the stop expansion occurred when Petrack asked Hansen questions about drinking.<sup>28</sup>

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the Circuit Court orally denied Hansen's motion to suppress in 20TR5071; and 21CT38.<sup>29</sup> The Circuit Court found that law enforcement vehicles do not display blue lights on registration plates, and therefore held that there was reasonable suspicion to stop Hansen based solely on Petrack's observation of a blue light on the registration plate.<sup>30</sup> The Circuit Court additionally commented that an officer may base a traffic stop on a reasonable mistake of fact or law.<sup>31</sup> Further, the Circuit Court found that the traffic stop was not extended by Petrack's questions about drinking, on the grounds that the questions were *de minimus* intrusions which occurred before Petrack had completed the mission of the original traffic stop.<sup>32</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 77–78 ("The next thing is the request to do these [field sobriety] tests . . . He then activates emergency lighting . . . The defendant doesn't stop."), 81 (discussing the request for a PBT), 97 (discussing the stop expansion); 2021AP1620, R.21, at 77–78, 81, 97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 83–91; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 83–91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 94–97; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 94–97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 102; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 98–99 ("[F]or the reasonable suspicion that a traffic offense is being committed I think clearly has been shown here with the blue license plate . . . The only exception for blue on the back of the vehicles is with respect to the law enforcement vehicles. The blue is in an area that law enforcement vehicles do not display blue light."); 2021AP1620, R.21, at 98–99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 98 ("There's numerous cases . . . that talk about officers don't have to be perfect when they pull somebody over. They can make mistakes of fact. They can make mistakes of law."); 2021AP1620, R.21, at 98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 100–101, 104–105 ("The questions about the drinking . . . I don't think they did prolong the stop. Under the circumstances here they were de minimus questions at the beginning of his inquiry and the beginning of the stop before he'd even gone back to run the plate and do the ticket."); 2021AP1620, R.21, at 100–101, 104–105.

The Circuit Court held that reasonable suspicion existed to request FSTs and that probable cause existed to request a PBT.<sup>33</sup>

In 20TR5071 the Circuit Court found Hansen's refusal to be unreasonable, ordered Hansen's driving privileges to be revoked, and ordered that Hansen be subject to an ignition interlock order.<sup>34</sup> That order was signed by Judge Kristine Snow and was entered by the Clerk of Circuit Court in 20TR5071 on May 7, 2021.<sup>35</sup> On August 12, 2021, Hansen entered no contest pleas in 21CT38 to Count 1 (Operating While Intoxicated – 3<sup>rd</sup> Offense) and to Count 3 (Operating a Firearm While Intoxicated).<sup>36</sup> Count 2 was dismissed and Counts 4 and 5 were dismissed and read in.<sup>37</sup> The Circuit Court accepted Hansen's no contest pleas, found him guilty of Counts 1 and 3 and placed Hansen on probation with conditions of probation to include a term of conditional jail on Count 1.<sup>38</sup>

Hansen now appeals from the order in 20TR5071 and from the judgment of conviction in 21CT38.<sup>39</sup> A motion to consolidate the appeals in both matters has been granted.

<sup>38</sup> 2021AP1620, R.31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 100–105; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 100–105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 98–109; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 98–109.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> 2021AP1006, R.14–15; 2021AP1620, R.23, R.30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> 2021AP1620, R.24–25, 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> 2021AP1620, R.31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> 2021AP1006, R.16, 18, 24–25; 2021AP1620, R.40–41.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND LEGAL AUTHORITY

Whether a traffic stop or an expansion of the scope of the traffic stop is lawful under the Fourth Amendment is a question of constitutional law reviewed *de novo*.<sup>40</sup> Appellate courts uphold findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous.<sup>41</sup> A finding of fact is clearly erroneous where it is contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence.<sup>42</sup> In this case it is undisputed that Officer Petrack observed a blue colored light on the rear of Hansen's vehicle registration plate prior to the traffic stop. Whether Officer Petrack had reasonable suspicion to stop Hansen is, therefore, a question of law which is reviewed *de novo*.

A traffic stop is a seizure, and therefore is subject to the constitutional requirement that it be reasonable under the Fourth Amendment.<sup>43</sup> Searches and seizures conducted without a warrant are *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, subject only to a few specifically established and well delineated exceptions.<sup>44</sup> One such exception occurs where an officer observes conduct which would objectively lead that officer to reasonably

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> State v. Guzman, 166 Wis. 2d 577 (1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> *State v. Robinson*, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 483 (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> State v. Owens, 148 Wis. 2d 922, 926, 436 N.W.2d 869, 871 (1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> State v. Blatterman, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 156 (2015); State v. Gaulrapp, 207 Wis. 2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d
696 (Ct. App. 1996); State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> *Minnesota v. Dickerson*, 508 U.S. 366, 372–373 (1993).

conclude that unlawful activity may be afoot, and authorizes a brief detention to make reasonable inquiries aimed at quickly confirming or dispelling the officer's suspicions.<sup>45</sup>

To lawfully stop a vehicle, an officer must have reasonable and articulable suspicion that the vehicle operator had committed or was about to commit a law violation.<sup>46</sup> The officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts that, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant the intrusion.<sup>47</sup> A court must consider the totality of the circumstances when determining whether a traffic stop was constitutionally reasonable.<sup>48</sup>

"[B]rief, suspicionless seizures" are not permitted under the Fourth Amendment when the "primary purpose" of the seizure is "to uncover evidence of ordinary criminal wrongdoing."<sup>49</sup> A routine traffic stop "become[s] unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete th[e] mission' " of issuing a ticket for the violation.<sup>50</sup> "Authority for the seizure . . . ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are—or reasonably should have been—completed."<sup>51</sup> An officer's mission includes determining whether to issue a ticket as well as 'ordinary inquiries incident to the stop, including: checking the driver's license, checking for outstanding warrants against the driver, and inspecting vehicle registration and proof of insurance.<sup>52</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Id. (citing Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *State v. Houghton*, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 250 (2015); *State v. Gammons*, 2001 WI App 36, ¶6, 241 Wis. 2d 296, 625 N.W.2d 623 (Ct. App. 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> State v. Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 682 (1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> City of Indianapolis v. Edmond, 531 U.S. 32, 37 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> *Rodriguez v. United States*, 575 U.S. 348, 354–55 (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Id.* at 354.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. at 354–55.

The Court of Appeals held in *State v. Davis*, earlier this year, that checking a defendant's conditions of bond prolonged a traffic stop without reasonable suspicion, even where the officer had not yet completed the ordinary duties incident to a traffic stop.<sup>53</sup> The *Davis* court held that the officer's check was not an ordinary inquiry incident to a traffic stop, and therefore prolonged the stop beyond the time reasonably required for its completion.<sup>54</sup>

Generally, a traffic stop is not extended "so long as the incidents necessary to carry out the purpose of the traffic stop have not been completed, and the officer has not unnecessarily delayed the performance of those incidents."<sup>55</sup> An expansion in the scope of the inquiry, when accompanied by an extension of time longer than would have been needed for the original stop, must be supported by reasonable suspicion of separate illegal activity.<sup>56</sup>

The Fourth Amendment requires that the actions of law enforcement preceding a traffic stop be lawful.<sup>57</sup> Police may not create an exigency to justify a search or seizure by engaging in or threatening to engage in conduct that violates the Fourth Amendment.<sup>58</sup> An officer's unequivocal attempt to seize a person without a warrant, where there is no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> State v. Davis, 399 Wis. 2d 354, 367–73 (Ct. App. 2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> *State v. Floyd*, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 411 (2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> *Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. at 354–55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 463 (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> *Id.* 471–72.

reasonable suspicion to detain them, would constitute an unlawful threat to violate the Fourth Amendment.<sup>59</sup>

The Fourth Amendment "tolerates only objectively reasonable mistakes" by law enforcement.<sup>60</sup> Searches and seizures may be permitted under some circumstances where an officer's justification is based on a reasonable mistake of fact or law. Mistakes of fact can constitutionally justify a search or seizure only where the officer's mistake is objectively reasonable.<sup>61</sup> A mistake of fact is reasonable where it is supported by specific and articulable facts and constitutes a rational inference from those facts.<sup>62</sup>

Similarly, an officer's mistake of law must be objectively reasonable to justify a search or seizure.<sup>63</sup> To fall into this exception the officer, first, must have erroneously believed that a particular law justified the search or seizure.<sup>64</sup> Second, an officer's mistaken reliance on a statute or regulation is reasonable only where the statute is genuinely ambiguous such that "overturning the officer's judgement requires hard interpretive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> *See id.* at 472 ("There is no evidence of a 'demand' of any sort, much less a demand that amounts to a threat to violate the Fourth Amendment.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> *Heien v. North Carolina*, 574 U.S. 54, 55–56 (2014) ("Although the State Court of Appeals held that 'rear lamps' do not include brake lights, the word 'other,' coupled with the lack of state-court precedent interpreting the provision, made it objectively reasonable to think that a faulty brake light constituted a violation.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177, 186 (1990) (holding that a warrantless entry into defendant's apartment was lawful as an objectively reasonable mistake of fact, where officers received permission to enter from a co-tenant who referred to the apartment as "our" apartment and stated that she had clothes and furniture there).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> State v. Popke, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 131–33 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> *Heien*, 574 U.S. at 66–67 (holding that an officer's mistake of law was reasonable where the defendant was stopped because one out of two brake lights were out, and where conflicting statutory provisions made it ambiguous whether operating with only one working brake lamp was lawful).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> See id. at 61 ("Whether the facts turn out to be not what was thought, or the law turns out to be not what was thought, the result is the same: The facts are outside the scope of the law."), 67 ("Here we have little difficulty concluding that the officer's error of law was reasonable.")

work."<sup>65</sup> The burden is on the State to demonstrate that the warrantless traffic stop of Hansen and the extension of that stop was justified by a recognized exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment.<sup>66</sup>

### II. OFFICER PETRACK DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP HANSEN BASED SOLELY ON THE FACT THAT HE OBSERVED A BLUE COLORED LIGHT ON THE VEHICLE'S REGISTRATION PLATE.

# 1. An officer's observation of a blue light on the rear of a vehicle, without more, does not support an inference that the operator is violating the law.

Wis. Stat. § 347.07(2)(b) generally prohibits driving a vehicle on a public roadway while displaying any color of light other than red on the rear of the vehicle.<sup>67</sup> There are exceptions to this general prohibition in Chapter 347.<sup>68</sup> For example, vehicles operated during hours of darkness must be equipped with a lamp constructed to illuminate, with a white light, the rear registration plate of the vehicle.<sup>69</sup> Further, Wis. Stat. § 347.25(4) authorizes vehicles used in police work authorized by the State or a political subdivision of the State to display a blue light, but generally prohibits other vehicles from displaying a blue light.<sup>70</sup> Therefore, it is not categorically illegal in Wisconsin for a vehicle to display a blue colored light on the rear of the vehicle. Vehicles used in police work by the State or a political subdivision of the State may display a blue light.<sup>71</sup> The Legislature has expressly authorized

<sup>65</sup> Houghton, 364 Wis. 2d at 264 (citing Heien, 574 U.S. at 69–70) (Kagan, J., concurring).

<sup>66</sup> State v. Williams, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 659 (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Wis. Stat. § 347.07(2)(b) ("Except as . . . expressly authorized or required by [Chapter 347], no person shall operate any vehicle or equipment on a highway which has displayed thereon . . . [a]ny color of light other than red on the rear.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Wis. Stat. § 347.13(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Wis. Stat. § 347.25(4) ("No vehicle may be equipped with or display any blue colored light or lamp unless the vehicle is used in police work authorized by the state or a political subdivision of the state or [per Wis. Stat. § 347.25(1s)].").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Wis. Stat. § 347.25(4).

vehicles used in police work to display blue lights, and the police use unmarked police vehicles in enforcing criminal and traffic laws which appear identical to civilian vehicles.<sup>72</sup>

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals held, in *State v. Palaia*, that law enforcement must rule out statutory exceptions where a traffic stop is based on a suspected violation of a traffic statute where the statute contains exceptions authorizing otherwise prohibited conduct.<sup>73</sup> In *Palaia*, Deputy Knepfel stopped a Wisconsin registered vehicle because a registration check revealed that the vehicle had two registered owners where one registered owner had not been issued a Wisconsin driver's license. Wis. Stat. § 343.05(3)(a) prohibited a person from operating a motor vehicle in Wisconsin "unless that person possesses a valid operator's license issued to the person" by the DOT and that license has not been "revoked, suspended, cancelled or expired." However, the court noted that there were statutory and regulatory exceptions to Wis. Stat. § 343.05(3)(a). Non-residents of Wisconsin were exempt from Wis. Stat. § 343.05(3)(a).

Further, new residents of Wisconsin received an exemption which required them to apply for a Wisconsin operator's license within sixty days of "establishing Wisconsin residency." The court noted that Knepfel presumably could have run a registration search on Palaia, but either did not or could not remember doing so, and did not take any additional steps to verify if either registered owner possessed any other valid license.<sup>74</sup> The court held

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> 2021AP1006, R.26, at 48–49; 2021AP1620, R.21, at 48–49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> *State v. Palaia*, No. 2016AP467-CR, unpublished slip op.,  $\P$  8 (WI App Dec. 30, 2016) ("[U]nder the statutory scheme above, driving a Wisconsin registered vehicle without a Wisconsin-issued driver's license is not a criminal or traffic offense.") (citable for persuasive authority as a single judge authored opinion per Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> *State v. Palaia*, No. 2016AP467-CR, unpublished slip op., ¶ 2 (WI App Dec. 30, 2016).

that Knepfel did not have sufficient information as to whether the registered owner was a Wisconsin resident or was otherwise exempt from Wis. Stat. § 343.05(3)(a). Because Knepfel did not have this information, the court held that he did not have reasonable suspicion that a criminal or traffic infraction had been committed and that the stop was unlawful.<sup>75</sup>

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