FILED 01-13-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appellate Case Nos. 2021AP1006, 2021AP1620-CR

In the matter of the Refusal of Joshua John Hansen STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs-

JOSHUA JOHN HANSEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM ORDER ENTERED ON MAY 7, 2021 AND CONVICTIONS ENTERED ON AUGUST 12, 2021 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DODGE COUNTY, BRANCH 4, THE HON. KRISTINE A. SNOW PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

GILBERT G. THOMPSON Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1013424

Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

The correct legal standard for performing any traffic stop is reasonable suspicion. The Supreme Court of Wisconsin, in *State v. Houghton*, 364 Wis.2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143, 2015 WI 79, (2015) held that an officer's reasonable suspicion that a motorist is violating or has violated a traffic law is sufficient for the officer to initiate a stop of the offending vehicle.

I. OFFICER PETRACK HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP HANSEN'S VEHICLE BASED ON A LIGHT VIOLATION.

Officer Petrack had reasonable suspicion to believe Hansen violated Wis. Stats. Section 347.07 when he observed the blue rear license plate lamp. This statute states:

347.07 Special restrictions on lamps and the use thereof.

- (1) Whenever a motor vehicle equipped with headlamps also is equipped with any adverse weather lamps, spotlamps or auxiliary lamps, or with any other lamp on the front thereof projecting a beam of intensity greater than 300 candlepower, not more than a total of 4 of any such lamps or combinations thereof on the front of the vehicle shall be lighted at any one time when such vehicle is upon a highway.
- (2) Except as provided in sub. (3), or as otherwise expressly authorized or required by this chapter, no person shall operate any vehicle or equipment on a highway which has displayed thereon:
- (a) Any color of light other than white or amber visible from directly in front; or
- (b) Any color of light other than red on the rear; or
- (c) Any flashing light.
- (Emphasis added)

In his appellant brief Hansen argues that Officer Petrack was obligated to first "search Hansen's vehicle information" prior to performing the traffic stop. (Def.'s Br. 21) This search would allow Officer Petrack to rule out the possibility that Hansen was driving an undercover police vehicle. Officer Petrack was under no such obligation.

Officer Petrack could reasonably suspect that Hansen's vehicle was not used in police work or by a fire department. Officer Petrack was an experienced police officer with the Mayville Police Department and has performed traffic patrol duties for over 18 years. Officer Petrack has knowledge regarding police force vehicles and fire department vehicles. It is reasonable to believe Officer Petrack had more than a

"hunch" that Hansen's vehicle was not being used in police work or fire safety. Officer Petrack used articulable facts and reasonable inferences required for a lawful traffic stop. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968) He knew it was a violation for a vehicle to display a blue colored light to the rear unless it was a law enforcement vehicle. Officer Petrack knew the likelihood of Hansen's vehicle being used for law enforcement was slim to none because law enforcement vehicles do not display blue lights in the area Hansen's vehicle had an illuminated blue light. Officer Petrack testified at the April 30, 2021 motion hearing:

Q: What did you notice about the car?

A: As it passed me and it stopped at Dayton and Henninger, I noticed that the rear license plate lamp was blue in color.

Q: What caught your eye about the nature of the light?

A: Blue isn't authorized – or only authorized on law enforcement vehicles.

Q: And have you – where would a blue light be located on a law enforcement vehicle?

A: Either on the roof, on the dash, bumpers, mirrors, on the top windshield inside the car, the portion area.

Q: Would that blue light be part of the red and blue light for emergency lighting?

A: Correct.

Q: Have you ever seen a police vehicle with a blue light that's used to light up a license plate?

A: No.

(Tr. 9-8) (Emphasis Added)

In the Circuit Court's ruling, the Judge noted the following:

"The only exception for blue on the back of the vehicles is with respect to the law enforcement vehicles. The blue is in an area that law enforcement vehicles do not display blue light." (Tr. 99) (Emphasis added)

Additionally, an unmarked police vehicle would not want to be marked in any specific way to indicate it was a police vehicle. That would defeat the very purpose of being unmarked and indistinguishable from other civilian vehicles.

The purpose of any stop by an officer is to temporarily freeze the situation so that the officer can question the suspect as to his/her behavior. The questioning following the stop enables the officer to confirm or dispel the suspected violation(s) of law. In this case, Officer Petrack was permitted to stop Hansen's vehicle and question him about the blue light. If Hansen could provide a reasonable explanation as to why the registration light was blue, then the officer would most likely allow Hansen to be on his way. Officer Petrack's interactions with Hansen, however, led to an arrest for impaired driving.

II. OFFICER PETRACK HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO PURSUE AN IMPAIRED DRIVING INVESTIGATION.

Officer Petrack had reasonable suspicion to believe Hansen was an impaired driver. First, as Officer Petrack attempted to catch up to Hansen's vehicle he noticed some zigzagging type driving. When Officer Petrack activated the emergency lights of his marked police vehicle to perform the traffic stop, Hansen did not immediately pull over. Officer Petrack was right behind Hansen in a marked police vehicle with activated emergency lighting, yet Hansen continued to drive for over 30 seconds: Hansen drove to a stop sign, turned right, and drove down that street for half a block until driving into a Kwik Trip and parking at the gas pumps. Hansen drove right past designated parking spaces to park by the gas pump. This driving behavior would lead a reasonable police officer to suspect that the driver is inattentive or, more likely given the more than 30 seconds of failing to yield, impaired. Failing to pull over for more than 30 seconds, despite being followed at nighttime with the bright emergency lighting from a Ford Explorer police squad, would cause one to suspect that the

driver does not even know that there is a police squad car behind him.

During Officer Petrack's initial conversation with Hansen Officer Petrack observed multiple possible indications of intoxication — Hansen had red, glassy, bloodshot eyes, the odor of intoxicants, slurred speech. The next logical question for any police officer in this scenario is to ask how much have you had to drink tonight.

Officer Petrack provided specific and articulable facts that, under the totality of the circumstances, give rise to a reasonable suspicion that the driver is impaired. All of the clues Officer Petrack heard, smelled and observed led him to logically and reasonably pursue an impaired driving investigation.

III. OFFICER PETRACK DID NOT EXTEND THE TRAFFIC STOP BY ASKING HANSEN IF HE HAD CONSUMED ALCOHOL.

Officer Petrack asked one question ("how much have you had to drink tonight") that was clearly permissible when looking at the totality of the conversation and circumstances.

Officer Petrack, after observing Hansen fail to yield for over 30 seconds and then smelling alcohol, hearing slurred speech

and observing red, bloodshot, glassy eyes during his initial conversation with Hansen, was permitted to ask how much alcohol had been consumed.

This one question about drinking took just seconds to ask and was done in the course of his initial conversation with Hansen. The Court determined that this question in no way extended the traffic stop:

"The background questions that the officer asked after he pulled over the defendant here are pretty standard questions." (Tr. 99)

And, again, at page 104:

"The questions about the drinking prolonging the stop, first of all, I don't think they did prolong the stop. Under the circumstances here they were de minimus questions at the beginning of his inquiry and the beginning of the stop before he'd even gone back to run the plate and do the ticket." (Tr. 104) (Emphasis added)

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, this Court should affirm the circuit court's final order and convictions against Hansen. Officer Petrack had reasonable suspicion to stop Hansen's vehicle and perform an impairment investigation. There was no undue extension of the traffic stop. The final order and judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.